**RECEIVED**

**Jun 02 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Cherokee County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DIONICIO NAVA ABARCA,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000180

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the court erred by admitting the 911 call in this case since it contained highly prejudicial, inadmissible prior consistent statements about appellant allegedly being angry with his decedent wife the night before they disappeared for cheating on him where the 911 call was also needlessly cumulative under Rule 403, SCRE, it violated appellant's right to confrontation, and it did not qualify as an excited utterance or under any other hearsay exception which would have made the 911 call admissible since there was no ongoing emergency involved?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the March 25, 2021 term of the Cherokee County grand jury for the offenses of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 380-381. His case was called to trial on January 22, 2024, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury. James Farr represented appellant. Adrienne Elizabeth Barry and Evan Haney were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On January 26, 2024, the jury found appellant guilty of both counts. R. 373, ll. 7-14. Judge Kelly sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder, and he imposed a five-year concurrent term for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 377, ll. 19-23.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

**Admission of evidence:** “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848.

**Confrontation grounds:** The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” This procedural protection applies in both federal and state prosecutions by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 406, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965).

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by admitting the 911 call in this case since it contained highly prejudicial, inadmissible prior consistent statements about appellant allegedly being angry with his decedent wife the night before they disappeared for cheating on him where the 911 call was also needlessly cumulative under Rule 403, SCRE, it violated appellant's right to confrontation, and it did not qualify as an excited utterance or under any other hearsay exception which would have made the 911 call admissible since there was no ongoing emergency involved.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, defense counsel Farr objected to the state playing a tape of the 911 call since appellant's children would be testifying, and statements on the 911 call constituted inadmissible prior consistent statements from those children who would testify at trial. The 911 call was also inadmissible as needlessly cumulative evidence under Rule 403, SCRE. R. 13, ll. 9-23.

The solicitor argued, admitting "[i]t's going to be the same children that are on the 911 call that will be played for the children. They're going to testify and will be subject to cross-examination and all of that ... it is cumulative evidence. This is not as cumulative. This is different, distinct evidence and that should -- and the indictment shows time and location of the report. This happened three-and-a-half years ago. The kids' memory may be a little fuzzy. So, the 911 call is an exact record, business record, of what took place that day. So, it is different. It's not cumulative." R. 14, l. 12 – 15, l. 6.

Defense counsel continued to argue that the 911 tape constituted inadmissible prior consistent statements that were cumulative to the testimony of the witnesses and that if the witnesses' memories needed to be refreshed "then there's a proper way to do that, is to play the

911 call to refresh their [memory].” R. 15, ll. 6-16. The judge ruled the 911 call was admissible over the defense objection. R. 15, ll. 17-21.

When Dennis Gardner, the director of 911 communications, was called as a witness, defense counsel objected on the basis of a confrontation clause denial, citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 821 (2006) and Michigan v. Bryant, 562 U.S. 344, 354-60 (2011), since “this is not the person who actually took the call, and I’m objecting to this individual at this time.” The judge also overruled this objection. R. 32, l. 14 – 33, l. 3. Defense counsel renewed his objection when the 911 tape was played for the jury. Tr. 67, ll. 3-13.

In the 911 tape, then sixteen-year-old Dulce Abarca tells the 911 operator that she was twelve-years-old at the time of the 911 call and that her father, appellant, had fought with her mother, the decedent, the prior day because appellant thought the decedent was cheating on him. R. 55, l. 1 – 57, l. 5; 61, l. 16-24; 65, ll. 5-9. Dulce’s older brother, Juan Daniel Abarca, also testified consistently with the 911 call that his parents left the day before the 911 call, and he thought they were going to Walmart at the time they left. Juan also testified at trial that they were fighting the night before they left. R. 43, l. 16 – 44, l. 9. The 911 call, State’s Exhibit 2, is on file for this Court to review.

At trial, Juan Abarca testified that appellant and his mother left that afternoon in appellant’s brown pickup truck. R. 44, ll. 14-17. Juan said he thought his parents were going to the field, then to their rental home and then to the Walmart. R. 43, ll. 18-24. Juan described the field as “my dad’s garden, and we would usually work on it or whatever we needed to do for the plants growing there.” R. 45, ll. 14-18. Juan also testified that he drove to their rental property

the next day, and he found his father's brown truck there. That is when he called 911. R. 46, l. 24 - 48, l. 22.

Dulce Abarca testified that she mentioned the State of Alabama in the 911 call because her father, appellant, had talked about moving there in the past. R. 56, ll. 16-25. She said when her parents did not return home the day before the 911 call, she thought they were going to the field, the store, and then to their rental property. They went in appellant's small brown pickup truck. R. 57, ll. 3-17.

Dulce said she asked to go with her parents, but appellant told her she could not come. She began to worry by about six o'clock that night, and she phoned her mother and got no answer from her mother or from appellant on his separate cellphone. R. 58, l. 21 - 59, l. 3. As stated, Dulce repeated that her parents argued the night before the 911 call when they left about her mother cheating on appellant. R. 61, ll. 16-24.

This was very significant, and it was the only evidence of appellant having a motive to harm his wife – anger because of cheating.

Mark Hutchens of the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office testified that on July 19, 2020, he went to the field or garden spot owned by appellant to search it. Hutchens remembered Deputy Singleton hollering to him that he had found the decedent's body "in a shallow grave" in the field. R. 68, l. 14 - 71, l. 12.

Luis Abarca testified that appellant was his uncle. At the time of the trial, Luis was twenty-years-old, and he was working at UPS. R. 192, l. 5 - 193, l. 8. Luis testified that he was not extremely close with appellant. He remembered on July 18, 2020, he was dropping off the rent money to appellant at one of his rental homes. R. 193, l. 2 - 194, l. 5.

In the past, Luis had worked with appellant on a farm. Luis was seventeen-years-old on this July day in 2020, and he remembered appellant asked him for a ride. Luis agreed to give appellant a ride. Appellant got in the back passenger seat of his car. R. 194, l. 2 – 195, l. 21.

Luis remembered that appellant told him to get on I-85, and he remembered driving through Spartanburg and then Greenville counties. R. 196, ll. 4-16. Luis continued to drive on I-85 with appellant into Georgia, but it started getting dark. R. 197, l. 15 – 198 l. 1.

Luis testified he told appellant he needed to go home because it was getting dark, but “he asked me to continue to drive.” R. 198, ll. 4-8. Luis recalled going through Atlanta and continuing on I-85 into the state of Alabama. R. 199, ll. 2-15. Luis thought at one point appellant mentioned Houston, Texas as a destination. R. 199, ll. 22-25.

Luis remembered he stopped at a vacant gas station in what he thought was Mobile, Alabama. “I could not drive any further.” R. 200, l. 8 – 201, l. 13. Luis went to sleep inside the car at the abandoned gas station until he awoke to his shoulder being shaken and appellant telling him to drive. R. 200, l. 8 – 201, l. 25.

He also saw police officers next to the car at the time he was awakened by appellant. R. 202, ll. 1-20. Luis testified: “I believe at that point, I told them [the police] that I was worried for my safety—and that something was wrong.” R. 203, ll. 13-21. Luis offered that he originally had thought appellant simply wanted a short ride from him when he asked for a ride. R. 205, ll. 9-13.

Pate Cardwell was a deputy with the Baldwin County Sheriff’s Department in Baldwin County, Alabama. R. 218, ll. 4-18. Cardwell remembered driving by the closed gas station at about three o’clock in the morning and spotting the vehicle Luis was driving with appellant in

the back seat. He remembered that when his headlights shone on the car “two heads pop up, like one in the driver’s seat and one in the back passenger seat.” R. 219, ll. 3-25.

Cardwell testified that Luis told him he was driving his uncle “to see his aunt in New Orleans at a hospital, that she has COVID.” Tr. 251, ll. 3-5. Cardwell said he thought it was suspicious that someone would be going to a hospital to see someone with COVID at that time. Cardwell continued to talk to Luis, and Luis admitted he was actually going to Houston. “And he said he was scared, and asked if I could walk away from the vehicle and talk to him.” Luis told Caldwell he thought appellant “had done something bad. And I asked him what. He said he didn’t know.” R. 221, l. 19 – 222, l. 20.

Cardwell recalled that appellant had a COVID mask on, and he was staring straight ahead. Cardwell said Luis gave him consent to search the car, and he found appellant’s passport and about one thousand dollars inside the car. R. 223, ll. 7-22; 224, l. 1 – 225, l. 10.

Pastor Michael Bridges of Concord Baptist Church in Gaffney, South Carolina identified the surveillance tape from outside his church that he turned over to the police in this case. R. 248, l. 9 – 251, l. 8. State’s Exhibit 54, the surveillance tape, showed “a little brown-gold truck, small frame pickup truck, driving down Concord Road, passing the church, turning onto Concord Heights Road. Approximately thirty minutes after you see it make that turn onto Concord Heights, you see it leave Concord Heights turning left on Concord Road.” Cherokee County Sheriff’s Deputy Christopher Parnell testified that, in his opinion, this was important evidence because it was appellant’s brown truck “located at the last place we knew him to be at.” R. 270, l. 13 – 271, l. 22.

Parnell also testified that State's Exhibit 54 showed a brown truck that looked similar to appellant's truck on the surveillance video on July 18, 2020 at 2:57 in the afternoon. R. 271, l. 2 – 272, l. 13. That tape is before this Court for viewing.

The pathologist, Dr. Kelly Rose, performed the autopsy on decedent on July 21, 2020. She said the decedent's body showed sharp force wounds to the decedent's head and neck as if they were made by a machete. R. 302, l. 3 – 308, l. 11. Dr. Rose also testified the decedent's body had chemical type burns to the body which were consistent with gasoline or bleach. R. 312, l. 7 – 316, l. 25. Dr. Rose said the decedent in this case died from a loss of blood from a "brutal, vicious attack which was a homicide." R. 316, ll. 17-21.

### **Discussion**

Defense counsel correctly argued that the 911 tape in this case contained impermissible prior consistent statements which made it inadmissible. Counsel also argued the 911 tape was needlessly cumulative, and inadmissible for that reason also.

The state reasoned that because the defense could cross-examine the witnesses on the 911 tape, Juan and Dulce Abarca, that solved the problem with the prior consistent statements and the cumulative nature of this testimony under Rule 403, SCRE. That was incorrect.

This was not a "traditional" 911 call, in that it did not constitute an excited utterance that was admissible pursuant to Rule 803(2) nor was it admissible as a present sense impression pursuant to Rule 803(1). The 911 call was made by appellant's sixteen-year-old and twelve-year-old minors the day after their parents left. It was a relatively calm narration of prior events that was highly prejudicial because the 911 operator was told that appellant and the decedent argued the *night before they left* about the decedent cheating on appellant. It was more than a day after that before 911 was called to report appellant and the decedent had not come home.

Importantly, this provided the only motive in this case for appellant to harm the decedent, and coupled with the flight evidence was the only evidence against appellant in this case.

In State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121-122, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001), our Supreme Court noted:

Prior consistent statements of a witness are not inadmissible hearsay if:

The declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is ... consistent with the declarant's testimony *and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive; provided, however, the statement must have been made before the alleged fabrication, or before the alleged improper influence or motive arose.*

Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE.

Thus, in order for a prior consistent statement to be admissible pursuant to this rule, the following elements must be present:

- (1) the declarant must testify and be subject to cross-examination,
- (2) *the opposing party must have explicitly or implicitly accused the declarant of recently fabricating the statement or of acting under an improper influence or motive,*
- (3) the statement must be consistent with the declarant's testimony, and
- (4) *the statement must have been made prior to the alleged fabrication, or prior to the existence of the alleged improper influence or motive.*

(emphasis added).

The statements on the 911 call were not admissible pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE, because they were not offered to rebut an express or implied charge against either Juan or Dulce of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive. Therefore, the prior consistent statements impermissibly lent undue influence to the hearsay subject matter or “bolstered” the testimony of

Juan and Dulce about the alleged argument between appellant and the decedent about her cheating on him. See, also Vail v. State, 402 S.C. 77, 738 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2013); State v. Barrett, 299 S.C. 485, 386 S.E.2d 242 (1989).

Since the defense had not accused either Juan or Dulce of an expressed or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive, the prior consistent statements were inadmissible, and they were highly prejudicial.

The 911 call in this case was a report, it was not an ongoing emergency. It was establishing the past fact that Juan and Dulce's parents had left and not returned. It was essentially a missing person's and neglect report. It was not an emergency call requiring police assistance in the normal sense as the report of an emergency would be to 911.

Consequently, pursuant to Crawford v. Washington and Davis v. Washington, the call involved testimonial statements. The 911 call is commonly distinguished from a formal investigation because at least the initial interrogation conducted in connection with a 911 call is ordinarily not designed primarily to "establish or prove" some past fact but to describe the current circumstances requiring police assistance. Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 827 (2006). Like the Hammond v. Indiana, 547 U.S. 813 (2006) concurrent case in Davis v. Washington, the 911 call in this case involved an account of events in the past—the prior day.

The 911 operator, who did not testify, was eliciting facts about the parents leaving the two minor children, Juan and Dulce, alone which looked to be neglect. Nonetheless, as the Court made clear in Davis v. Washington, even if the 911 call could be determined to be for some type of emergency assistance in the beginning, it evolved into testimonial statements once that "emergency" purpose had been achieved and where the 911 operator was gathering information about the argument over cheating after that. This part of the 911 call that elicited the critical

investigatory allegation that appellant and the decedent were fighting or arguing the afternoon they left about the decedent allegedly cheating on appellant was testimonial. The parents then left and did not return. Again, this cheating argument statement on the 911 tape provided the only evidence in this case of a motive – anger -- for appellant to kill the decedent.

Finally, the information contained in the 911 call about the parents fighting or arguing about an affair was needlessly cumulative to the live testimony in court pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. It was just repetition of the live testimony recorded on tape during the 911 call which were inadmissible prior consistent statements. This repetition made the hearsay evidence have an impermissibly bogus persuasive effect. The prior consistent statement in this case violated the rule against hearsay which prohibits the admission of an out-of-court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted, unless an exception to the rule applies. See Simpkins v. State, 303 S.C. 364, 401 S.E.2d 142 (1991).

This was not a criminal sexual conduct case, but none of the three exceptions recognized in Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 443 S.E.2d 566 (1994), would have qualified even if it was a CSC case. The prior inadmissible consistent statements here were cumulative to the trial testimony and impermissibly bolstered and improperly made more prominent the allegation that appellant was angry with the decedent because she had cheated on him, they left after this fight and did not return. See Jolly v. State.<sup>1</sup>

Here, defense counsel also correctly argued that the 911 call was needlessly cumulative to the live testimony in this case and therefore it involved the needless presentation of cumulative evidence under Rule 403, SCRE. See State v. Hess, 279 S.C. 14, 301 S.E.2d 547

---

<sup>1</sup> Jolly was overruled to the extent it imposed a categorical or *per se* rule precluding a finding of harmless error given the inadmissible hearsay testimony. See Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 245-246, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492 (2018).