RECEIVED

Jun 02 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Cherokee County
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DIONICIO NAVA ABARCA,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000180

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HONORABLE BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit
Spartanburg County Courthouse
180 Magnolia Street, 3rd Floor

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

presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009). Rule 403, SCRE, has sometimes been misstated, incorrectly providing that for evidence to be admissible under a Rule 403 analysis the probative value of evidence must substantially outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant, whereas “[t]he correct test is the opposite: whether the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” State v. King, 424 S.C. 188, 200 n.6, 818 S.E.2d 204, 210 n.6 (2018). The misstated test “incorrectly places the burden on the proponent of the evidence to establish admissibility, while the proper test places the burden on the opponent of the evidence to establish inadmissibility” under Rule 403. Id. An appellate court reviews a trial court’s Rule 403, SCRE ruling pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court’s determination. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014). “A trial [court’s] decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” Id. (quoting State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003)).

Here, the statements at issue were clearly relevant as to motive, opportunity and identity. Further, while we acknowledge the prejudicial effect is great—particularly as to M.W.’s statement that Sledge shot his mother—the child’s trial testimony provides additional damaging details not included in the 911 call, including that he witnessed a physical altercation between Sledge and Victim prior to the shooting and, during this time, Victim told M.W. that Sledge was really mad at her and might kill her. His trial testimony also established a scenario that explains why M.W. would have perceived Sledge was the person who shot his mother. Accordingly, we cannot say the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, and we find no abuse of discretion in the trial court’s determination the evidence was admissible under Rule 403.

Sledge, 428 S.C. at 55–56, 832 S.E.2d at 641–42. *See also* Davis-Kocsis, 443 S.C. at 135-136, 903 S.E.2d at 495-96 (finding surviving victim’s 911 call’s significant probative value was not substantially outweighed by the minimal danger of unfair prejudice and trial court did not err in admitting the 911 call over the Rule 403 objection); Bratschi, 413 S.C. at 118, 775 S.E.2d at 50 (trial court did not err in admitting murder victim’s 911 call from previous assault by the defendant

over defendant's Rule 403, objection as its probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice).

Petitioner also argues the 911 tape is cumulative; therefore, it was error to admit it. Petitioner is wrong. A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections. See State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) ("We ... are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment [regarding Rule 403]." (internal citation omitted)), *overruled on other grounds* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Rule 403 states: "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or *needless presentation of cumulative evidence*." (emphasis added). Rule 403 states the trial judge may exclude evidence if it involves **the needless** presentation of cumulative evidence. But it does not say the trial judge has to exclude cumulative evidence, only that it may exclude it due to considerations of undue delay, waste of time or *needless presentation of cumulative evidence*. None of those occurred here. The 911 tape was not needlessly cumulative. K.S. by & through Seeger v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two, 445 S.C. 111, 912 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2025), *referencing* State v. Funderburke, 251 S.C. 536, 540, 164 S.E.2d 309, 311 (1968) ("Cumulative evidence has repeatedly been defined to be additional evidence of the same kind to the same point."); United States v. Williams, 81 F.3d 1434, 1443 (7th Cir. 1996) ("Evidence is 'cumulative' when it adds very little to the probative force of the other evidence in the case, so that if it were admitted its contribution to the determination of truth would be outweighed by its contribution to the length of the trial"). Determining whether evidence is cumulative necessarily requires an exercise of discretion on the part of the trial court. Determining whether

evidence is “needlessly” cumulative under Rule 403 requires the trial court to exercise another layer of discretion. K.S. by & through Seeger, 445 S.C. 111, 912 S.E.2d at 247.

The 911 tape was not additional evidence of the same kind. The 911 tape was an excited utterance, a present sense impression, and a business record whereas Juan’s and Dulce’s testimony 3 ½ year later was eyewitness testimony years after the incident. The 911 tape captured the real time event which started the police investigation and led to the discovery of Victim’s murdered body. It captured in real time the children’s emotional report of their parents being missing and that they were abandoned **when the event was fresh in their mind and they had no motive to fabricate and only a motive to accurately report the events surrounding their parents’ disappearance and their own abandonment.** As Dulce’s trial testimony shows, 3 ½ years’ later she was now 16 years old and could only testify that she *believed* her parents were arguing over her father’s belief her mother was cheating on her. The 911 tape recorded in real time the report of Dulce’s parents being missing and the children’s abandonment and Dulce’s emotional and firm response to the 911 operator that her parents were fighting the night before her mother’s disappearance about her father’s belief that her mother was cheating on him. (Court’s Ex. 1 and State’s Ex. 2). In the 911 call, under the influence of the events surrounding her parents’ disappearance, Dulce is sure what her parents were fighting about. And she stated her father accused her mother of cheating. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the 911 tape as it was not needlessly cumulative.¹³ K.S. by & through Seeger ; Funderburke, 251 S.C. 536,

¹³ Several times in his brief, Abarca seems to argue that Juan’s and Dulce’s trial testimony is improper bolstering of the 911 tape or improperly cumulative to the 911 tape instead of the reverse. This argument has no merit as Juan and Dulce were eyewitnesses to the argument between their father and mother the night before their mother disappeared and was murdered, and they were eyewitnesses to the mother’s disappearance on July 18th when their mother left with their father in their father’s brown truck, and they were eyewitnesses to attempting to locate their parents, locating their father’s abandoned truck, and calling 911 to report their parents missing and that

540, 164 S.E.2d at 311 (1968); Williams, 81 F.3d at 1443; *See State v. Stephens*, 398 S.C. 314, 728 S.E.2d 68 (2012). Further, the redacted 911 call was short and did not unduly delay the trial. (State's Ex. 2).

Harmless Error

Further, even assuming arguendo some error in the admission of the redacted 911 call, the error was harmless given the 911 call was cumulative to the testimony of Juan and Dulce at trial and given the other convincing evidence of Abarca's guilt. Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 245-46, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492 (2018); *See State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93-94 (2011) ("Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless."); State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 356, 751 S.E.2d 645, 662 (2013) (holding "the improper admission of hearsay constitutes reversible error only when it results in prejudice, [and because the appellant] failed to show he was prejudiced, [he] failed to show reversible error"); Hendricks, 408 S.C. at 536, 759 S.E.2d at 440.

In State v. Caldwell, 283 S.C. 350, 322 S.E.2d 622 (1984), the Supreme Court "held the fact testimony is hearsay is unimportant if the declarant testifies and is available for cross examination. Boyce and Parish testified at trial and both were cross-examined. The admission of Boyce's statement to Parish through Adams was proper." Caldwell, 283 S.C. at 351, 322 S.E.2d at 662. The Court in Caldwell followed its previous decision in State v. Huggins, 275 S.C. 229, 231; 269 S.E.2d 334, 335 (1980). In Huggins, the Court held the admission of a statement of an informant to a police officer, whether it was hearsay or not, was rendered harmless when the

they, the children, had been abandoned. The 911 tape was admissible in its' own right as excited utterance, present sense impression, or business record. The State can introduce an excited utterance, present sense impression, or business record despite the witness being available to testify and then present the eyewitness' testimony at trial. The availability of the declarant is irrelevant under these S.C.R.E.

informant, the declarant of the statement, took the stand and testified and was available for cross-examination. Id. In the present case, both Juan and Dulce testified and were subject to cross-examination about what they stated on the 911 call. As a result, any error in admitting the 911 call was rendered harmless. Caldwell; Huggins; See State v. Sims, 387 S.C. 557, 564, 694 S.E.2d 9, 13 (2010) (even though certain challenged testimony was inadmissible hearsay the error was harmless “in view of the overwhelming evidence of guilt”). Their trial testimony was in some respects cumulative to what they said on the 911 call. (R. 42-54; 55-65). State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (finding the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence).

Again, there was no Confrontation Clause violation because both Juan and Dulce were available for cross-examination about what they said on the 911 call. And, their statements were not testimonial but a cry for help because their parents were missing, and their parents’ children were abandoned.

Further, they both testified that their father, Abarca, and their mother, Alicia Garcia, fought the night before they both disappeared, July 17, 2020. (R. 42-54; 55-65). Dulce testified 3 ½ years later before the jury, without objection, that she believed her parents fought over her father’s belief her mother was cheating on him. (R. 42-54; 55-65). Both Juan and Dulce testified that the following day, July 18, 2020, around 3:00 p.m., their father and mother left their home together in their father’s brown Toyota pick-up truck headed to the land [the garden], then to the rental property, and then to Walmart. (R. 42-54; 55-65). Dulce asked to go with them, but her father told her she could not go. (R. 55-65). Both testified their parents did not return that evening and their repeated phone calls to their parents went unanswered and were not returned. (R. 42-54; 55-65). Both testified that the following morning, July 19th, their parents had still not returned, and they

decided to go look for their parents. (R. 42-54; 55-65). Juan and Dulce testified that they started looking at the land [the garden], but their parents were not there nor was their father's truck. (R. 42-54; 55-65). They then drove to the rental property and found their father's truck but no one around the rental home. (R. 42-54; 55-65). They then drove to their uncle's home, and their uncle told them to call the police. (R. 42-54; 55-65). They drove back home and called 911 and reported their parents were missing and the fact that they were abandoned. (R. 42-54; 55-65).

The State introduced video surveillance footage from Concord Baptist Church that showed a brown pick-up truck perfectly consistent with Abarca's truck passed the church on Concord Road at 2:57 p.m. according to the surveillance cameras and turned onto Concord Heights Road and was headed toward the crime scene, the garden where Victim was horribly murdered. Just 30 minutes later, the same surveillance cameras captured the same brown pick-up truck consistent with Abarca's Toyota Tacoma coming back up Concord Heights Road and turning back onto Concord Road and leaving the area. This evidence is perfectly consistent with and corroborates the testimony of Juan and Dulce presented at trial before the jury. (R. 235-41; 242-51; 271-75; 366-67; State's Ex. 54 [surveillance video]; See 42-54; 46-55).

The evidence showed that Abarca next drove to his rental property on Small Farm Road and parked his brown Toyota Tacoma pick-up truck behind his rental mobile home so it could not be seen from the road. He then cleaned up in the bathtub where police later found wet mud still in the bathtub. (R. 96-107; 193-17; 298).¹⁴

While he was there, his nephew Luis Abara pulled up the driveway of the rental home to pay his uncle Abarca rent money. Abarca asked his 17-year-old-nephew Luis to give him a ride.

¹⁴Not only had Abarca viciously murdered his wife at the garden, but also he had buried her in a shallow grave in the muddy wet garden. Abarca would have needed to clean himself up after committing the crime and burying Victim. (R. 67-74; 84-89; 92-95; 257-59).

Luis thought his uncle just wanted a ride somewhere nearby. Abarca got in the back of Luis' car and had no luggage or change of clothes. Luis found it strange that his uncle got in the back seat. His uncle then ordered Luis to drive to I-85 and head south. Abarca then ordered Luis to drive through Spartanburg, Greenville, Pickens, and Oconee County and into Georgia. Luis asked to turn the car around, but Abarca said no. Luis eventually passed through the Atlanta Georgia area and into western Georgia. Abarca eventually told Luis to turn off his phone. When Luis asked to turn around Abarca became upset or angry and told Luis to keep driving. Eventually, Abarca told Luis to enter Houston, Texas into his G.P.S. At some point, Luis came to believe he was not free to turn around or stop. However, Luis eventually could drive no longer and pulled off the interstate and parked behind a closed gas station and fell asleep. Around 3:00 a.m., Luis was awakened by Abarca shaking his shoulder. Abarca told him to drive but when Luis looked there was a police officer in front of him. Luis refused to flee the police officer as directed by his uncle Abarca. Luis eventually told the officer that Abarca had done something bad and had forced him to drive all the way to within 1 hour of the Mississippi State Line. Luis also told the officer he and Abarca were headed to Houston, Texas. Abarca refused to respond to the officer's commands, and the officer eventually made Abarca get out of the back of the vehicle and took him into custody. A search of the back floorboard revealed 2 passports for Abarca and \$1,000. Police were unable to locate either Abarca's or Victim's cellphones. (R. 193-217; 218-31; 276-77).

Shortly after 11:24 a.m. on July 19, 2020, the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office responded to the missing persons call at Juan and Dulce's home near Chesnee. They then dispatched deputies to the land [the garden], whereupon deputies saw footprints leading into the garden and discovered Victim buried in a shallow grave near a row of corn. Deputies could see cuts, chop wounds, and stab wounds to Victim's face and neck. (R. 67-74; 84-89; 92-95; 257-59).

Deputies then responded to the rental home finding Abarca's truck parked behind the rental home so that it could not be seen from the road. Deputies lawfully searched Abarca's truck and the interior of the rental home. They found muddy boots and numerous machetes in Abarca's truck toolbox. Another machete was later found in the garden on Abarca's land [the garden]. Inside the rental home, police found wet mud in the bathtub where it appeared someone had attempted to clean up. However, Abarca was nowhere to be found. As previously discussed, Abarca had abandoned his 3 children and fled South Carolina headed toward Houston, Texas and the Mexican border with his passport. He was now in custody of police in western Alabama near the Mississippi State Line after fleeing South Carolina after murdering his wife. (R. 96-107; 259-65; 298).

When Victim's body was examined at autopsy it was discovered she had several chop injuries to her body including 2 to her head that fractured her skull. The injuries were consistent with being inflicted by a machete. Victim also 2 defensive wounds in 1 hand and 1 arm where she tried to fend off the horrible assault. Her trachea was also cut. Victim bled to death from her numerous chop wounds and cuts and stabs to her body. (R. 302-20).

Based on all of the above, any error in the admission of any portion of the 911 call reporting Abarca and Victim as missing and that their children had been left abandoned was harmless. Thompson v. State; State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93-94 (2011) ("Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless."); State v. Hughes, 419 S.C. 149, 159, 796 S.E.2d 174, 179 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding no reversible error when evidence was erroneously admitted because the same evidence was admitted by other witnesses without objection).

The correct result was reached

A review of Abarca's colloquy with Judge Kelly regarding whether he would testify or not **and** his colloquy at sentencing, combined, shows Abarca essentially conceded his guilt of the crimes. (R. 323-27; 376-78). As a result, the correct result was reached, and his appeal should be denied. State v. Sroka, 267 S.C. 664, 665; 230 S.E.2d 816 (1976); State v. Whetsell, 276 S.C. 295, 297, 277 S.E.2d 891 (1981).

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, Abarca's convictions and sentences for murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime must be affirmed.